

C.P. Schöls



Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands University Medical Centre Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands





Master thesis Neuropsychology February 2013

Utrecht University Master Neuropsychology

THESIS

The influence of manic episodes on grey matter volumes and general intellectual functioning in bipolar I patients

Bsc. C.P. Schols, 3387720 Februari 2013

Mentor: Drs. L. Abramovic University Medical Centre Utrecht

> Mentor: Drs. L. Schoo Utrecht University

Foreword

For this thesis I completed a research internship at Bipolar Genetics at the University Medical Centre in Utrecht (UMCU), a large study on the genetic, neuroanatomical, and psychosocial foundations of bipolar disorder. With great pleasure I managed not only be involved in the main study, but also to participate in the additional MRI follow-up study. This was very exciting for me, since I had been curious about neuroimaging research for a long time. For a short period of time my imagination randomly started producing all sorts of spectacular three dimensional and colourful images of the human brain. On my first encounter with the MRI scanner, I discovered that, although intriguing, doing neuroimaging research was mostly hard work. It demanded a significant amount of determination, enthusiasm, a meticulous way of working, and technical insight. Next to the experience with neuroimaging research, this internship helped me develop a number of important skills, such as conducting a semi-structured interview and neuropsychological tests, and drawing blood, which I found specifically spectacular. But the thing I will remember most are the impressive, sometimes sad, sometimes hilarious, stories of patients I have spoken with. They really brought life into doing research.

As with every learning experience, I have many people to thank for making this thesis possible. First of all I would like to thank my supervisor in the UMCU, Lucija Abramovic, who guided me trough every step of this study. Her enthusiasm and teaching skills motivated me and helped me persevere through tough segmenting times. I had a great time working together and wish you all the best in the completion of your study and PhD trajectory. Furthermore, I would like to thank the whole Bipolar Genetics research team for sharing all their knowledge and frustrations, which made participating in this study a memorable experience. In addition, I would like to thank my supervisor of the University of Utrecht, Linda Schoo, for her quick replies and constructive criticism. And finally, I would like to thank my partner, Jeroen, for supporting me through the process of writing my second thesis. Again, he listened to my never-ending stories, frustrations, and revelations, and supported me with reassuring words and huge quantities of tea.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents, because studying is quickly taken for granted, and without their support it would have been a whole lot harder.

Karlijn Schols February 28th , 2013



Summary

Objective: This study focused on the effects of manic episodes on total brain and grey matter volumes and general intelligence (IQ) in patients with a bipolar type I disorder (BPI). Volumetric reductions of the total brain and grey matter have been observed in patients with BPI. In addition, cognitive impairments are found to persevere in a euthymic state, which implicates enduring poorer cognitive functioning after mood episodes. The severity of the illness, including the number of mood episodes, has been related to these structural and cognitive impairments. The precise relation of manic episodes on neuroanatomical changes and change in cognitive functioning remains inconclusive, and will therefore be examined in this study. Methods: A total of 64 euthymic patients diagnosed with BPI and 45 healthy control subjects participated in this study. The BPI diagnosis and the euthymic state were verified using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV disorders (SCID-I). Participants completed a number of questionnaires, a structured interview, and five neuropsychological tasks. Of the participants, 62 patients and 16 control subjects participated in the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) follow-up appointment, which included a number of structural scans. *Results*: Patients had smaller total brain volumes than control participants, but similar grey matter volumes. No relation between grey matter volumes and general IQ was found. However, patients had a lower general IQ compared to controls participants, whilst the groups did not differ in premorbid IQ. Furthermore, patients who experienced multiple manic episodes showed a larger decrease in general IQ compared to patients who experienced a single manic episode. *Conclusions*: This study indicates that manic episodes have a specific negative effect on total brain volumes and general IQ. Since the level of general IQ has been related to the functional outcome of the disorder, a higher number of manic episodes can have a negative effect on the psychosocial level of functioning and the quality of life of patients. Future research should therefore continue to investigate the effects of manic episodes on a structural as well as a functional level.



Contents

Introduction	11
Methods	15
Participants	
Protocol	
Assessment	
Imaging and volumetric processing	18
Statistical analyses	
Results	20
Demographic and clinical characteristics	20
Group differences on grey matter volumes and general intelligence	20
Correlation analyses	22
Discussion	24
References	I



Introduction

Bipolar disorder is a mood disorder also known as manic-depressive disorder (Kupka & Nolen, 2008). There are several types of bipolar disorder of which the bipolar type I (BPI) is the most well known. Patients suffering from BPI experience manic episodes that are often alternated by depressive episodes (Ten Have, Vollebergh, Bijl & Nolen, 2002). Recent cross-national epidemiological studies have found a 2.4% prevalence of bipolar spectrum disorders, and a 0.6% prevalence of BPI (Merikangas et al., 2011). In an elaborate study in the Netherlands a lifetime prevalence of 5% for all bipolar spectrum disorders was found and 2% for the BPI disorder (Regeer, et al., 2004). Bipolar disorder is a very severe psychopathology and has a distinct impact on patient's daily lives (Bentum & Ree, 2008). Next to difficulties in accepting a chronic diagnosis, 30 - 60% of bipolar spectrum patients experience significant problems in multiple area's of functioning including social, work and family life (Bentum & Ree, 2008; Sanchez-Moreno et al., 2009). Furthermore, patients with BPI report a lower quality of life with more pain, poorer mental health, more emotional role limitations and lower social functioning, than patients with other bipolar spectrum disorders, other psychiatric diagnoses or healthy controls (Ten Have et al., 2002). In addition, one in every four patients with BPI reported a history of suicide attempts (Merikangas et al., 2011).

For diagnosing BPI, following the criteria of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition, text revision (DSM-IV-TR), patients must have experienced at least one manic episode. A manic episode is characterized by a continuous heightened, euphoric, or agitated mood that lasts for at least one week or is followed by hospitalization (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2000). Next to a heightened mood patients often portray an enhanced self-esteem, excessive optimism or even feelings of grandeur, increased speech, thought flight, increased associativity and distractibility, a decreased need for sleep, increased libido, agitation and dynamism (Kupka & Nolen, 2008).

Previous research has demonstrated that patients with BPI disorder often show structural neuroanatomical changes. Most frequently reported changes are: enlargement of the lateral ventricles and the third ventricle (Arnone et al., 2009; Kempton, Geddes, Ettinger, Williams & Grasby, 2008; McDonald et al., 2004; Monkul, Gin & Soares, 2005), a decrease in total brain volume (Arnone et al., 2009), and reduction of grey matter volumes (Drevets et al., 1997; Ellison-Wright & Bullmore, 2010; Emsell & McDonald, 2009; López-Larson, Delbello, Zimmerman, Schwiers & Strakowski, 2002; Stanfield, et al., 2009). However, these findings remain inconclusive, since non-significant results between healthy controls and BPI patient's total brain and grey matter volumes have been reported as well (Emsell & McDonald, 2009; Scherk, et al., 2008). Important possible confounders in imaging studies are medication use.

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

Especially lithium, one of the most widely employed mood stabilizers for bipolar disorder (Wingo, Wingo, Harvey & Baldessarini, 2009), is found to have protective and regenerative effects on grey matter volumes (Emsell & McDonald, 2009; Kempton et al., 2008; Lyoo et al., 2010).

These structural changes have been related to several aspects of the disorder, such as the duration and severity of the illness (Arnone, et al., 2009, Hauser et al., 2000, López-Larson et al., 2002), and the number of mood episodes (Strakowski, et al., 2002). The effect of depressive episodes on the brain of patients suffering from major depression disorder or bipolar disorder, has been frequently studied and is been associated with, amongst others, volumetric changes in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Bremner et al., 2002; Konarski et al., 2008; Sheline, 2003) and temporal cortex, and enlargement of the lateral en third ventricles (Strakowski, Adler & Delbello, 2002). In contrast to the effect of depressive episodes on brain anatomy, the effect of manic episodes has been scarcely studied, and many results are contradictory. Moorhead et al. (2007) found that greater grey matter loss in the cerebellar and temporal lobe was associated with a higher number of (hypo)manic episodes. In addition, findings from Strakowski, et al. (2002) indicated that multi-manic episode patients had a smaller total brain volume and larger lateral ventricles compared to single-episode patients. Thus, depressive and manic episodes are both related to grey matter loss in the temporal lobe and enlargement of the lateral ventricles. However, there are also distinct effects of manic episodes on the brain compared to depressive episodes, such as a decrease in total brain volume. These effects will be examined in this study in order to comprehend the specific role of manic episodes on structural changes in the brain.

In addition to neuroanatomical changes, cognitive functioning has been compromised in patients with BPI disorder. Numerous studies have shown that BPI is associated with neurocognitive deficits. In contrast to previous beliefs, these deficits persist in a euthymic state, reflecting enduring cognitive impairments (Bearden, Hoffman & Cannon, 2001; Savitz, Solms & Ramesar, 2005). Frequently reported affected cognitive domains are: executive functioning (Martínez-Arán et al., 2004; Robinson et al., 2006), attention and working memory (Bora, Yucel & Pantelis, 2009), processing speed, and learning and memory (Hellvin et al., 2012; Martínez-Arán et al., 2007; Torres, Boudreau & Yatman, 2007). In addition to problems in these neurocognitive domains, significant differences in general intelligence in patients with BPI and healthy controls, when controlled for premorbid intelligence, are reported (Frantom, Allen & Cross, 2008; McIntosh, Harrison, Forrester, Lawrie & Johnstone, 2005; Toulopoulou, Quraishi, McDonald & Murray, 2006). Furthermore, poorer neuropsychological functioning and a lower intelligence have been related to the severity of the illness (Bearden et al., 2001; Denicoff et al., 1999) including the number of mood episodes (Cavanagh, Beck, Muir & Blackwood, 2002; Zubieta,

Bipolar Genetics

Huguelet, O'Neill & Giordani, 2001). However, to our knowledge, the precise effect of manic episodes on general intelligence in patients with BPI has yet to be examined. Therefore, this study will focus on the interaction between manic episodes and general intelligence.

The neuroanatomical changes found in bipolar patients, as described above, have been related to the problems in neuropsychological functioning (Smith, Gorp, Sobczak & Honig, 2008). Grey matter reductions found in BPI patients are associated with poorer neurocognitive functioning and lower general intelligence scores. Bruno, Papadopoulou, Cercignani, Cipolotti and Ron (2006) found that the difference between estimated pre-morbid intelligence and current intelligence was significantly correlated with reduced grey matter in the left temporal lobe. Likewise, Moorhead et al. (2007) associated reductions in general intelligence and performance intelligence with grey matter loss in the temporal lobes. As mentioned above, the grey matter loss in the temporal lobes was also associated with the number of manic episodes.

A noteworthy methodological problem with studies on bipolar patients is the inconsistent use of diagnostic criteria for defining the bipolar patient group (Smith et al., 2008). Diagnoses of BPI, bipolar disorder type II, or bipolar disorder not otherwise specified are commonly used to represent one group of bipolar patients. Next to that, patients are included regardless if they are experiencing a current mood episode or are in a euthymic state. This could contribute to the inconsistent findings in neuroimaging and neuropsychological studies and calls for more precise definitions of the bipolar patient group.

In conclusion, structural neuroanatomical changes and poorer neuropsychological functioning have been frequently reported in patients with BPI. These structural changes and poorer neuropsychological functioning have been related to each other. Furthermore, research has indicates that structural changes and problems with neuropsychological functioning are related to the severity of the illness, including the number of mood episodes. However, little research has been done on the exact effects of manic episodes on structural changes, and none, to our knowledge, on general intelligence. Next to that, the definition of bipolar disorder differs among studies and forms a serious methodological problem.

With these considerations in mind, the aim of this study was to examine the effects of manic episodes on total brain and grey matter volumes in patients with BPI disorder. In addition, we will examine the relation between these neuroanatomical changes and general cognitive functioning by analyzing the effect of manic episodes on general intelligence. We hypothesize that: patients will show (1) smaller grey matter volumes and (2) lower general intelligence scores compared to controls, and that (3) grey matter volumes are related to general

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

intelligence. For patients we expect (4) a higher number of manic episodes to be related to smaller grey matter volumes, and (5) a larger decrease in general intelligence.



Methods

Participants

A total of 64 patients diagnosed with BPI disorder and 45 control participants participated in this study. The BPI diagnosis was verified using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Disorders (SCID-I). An euthymic state was determined by the absence of a current mood episode using the SCID-I. Control participants were screened for any mental disorders using the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI).

Control participants were excluded if they met criteria for a diagnosis in the bipolar- or psychotic spectrum. However, subjects with other DSM-IV diagnoses were accepted to prevent an unrealistic healthy control group. Further exclusion criteria for both groups were: an age younger than 18 years, a premorbid IQ score below 80, persons unable to read, speak or understand Dutch, or if less than three grandparents were of Dutch origin. These criteria were presented to establish a high degree of homogeneity in the sample population. Furthermore, subjects were excluded for the MRI scan when scanning was impossible due to ferrous objects in or around the body, claustrophobia, or when persons had a history of closed-head injury with loss of consciousness, a neurological illness, or endocrinological dysfunction.

Of the 109 participants a total of 100 were selected for analyses. Our patient group consisted of 62 patients, 29 women and 33 men (mean age: 46, SD = 12.5). The control group consisted of 38 subjects, 24 women and 14 men (mean age: 38, SD = 17,5). Two patients were excluded, one due to a current mood episode and a faulty scan, and one due to a premorbid intelligence score below 80. In addition, seven control participants were excluded, three due to a premorbid intelligence score below 80, one due to violating the criterion of having three Dutch grandparents, two because they had experienced psychotic symptoms, and one due to a current mood episode. Of the selected 100 participants, all 62 patients, but only 16 control participants participated in the MRI follow up appointment (see protocol). Details of the groups are presented in table 1.



Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of	f the patient and	control group
--	-------------------	---------------

Characteristic	Patien	t group	Control g	roup	Difference	
	(<i>n</i> =62)		(<i>n</i> =38)			
	М	SD	М	SD		
Age (years)	47	12.5	38	17.5	788.50**b	
Premorbid IQ, n=89	109.0	8.1	108.9	9.3	04 ^a	
	n	%	n	%		
Educational level					1054.00 ^b	
Elementary school	0	0	2	5.3		
Lower secundary education	6	9.8	0	0.0		
Higher secondary education	21	34.4	13	34.2		
Bachelor degree	21	34.4	12	31.6		
Master degree	13	21.3	11	28.9		
Sex					2.54 ^c	
Male	33	53.2	14	36.8		
Female	29	46.8	24	63.2		
Current medication, <i>n</i> =98						
Lithium	43	71.7	-	-		
Anti-depressants	23	38.3	-	-		
Anti-psychotics	33	55.0	-	-		
	М	SD	М	SD		
Age of onset	25	10.0	-	-	-	
Age of first hospitalization	33	11.3	-	-		
Number of hospitalizations	2	2.4	-	-		
Number of manic episodes	4	4.5	-	-		
Number of depressive episodes	6	8.8	0	0.8 ¹		

Note. ***p* < .01, ^a = independent samples *t*-test, ^b = Mann-Whitney U test, ^c = Chi square test. ^I: Of the control participants 4 experienced a depressive episode.

Protocol

Subjects were recruited in various ways, including clinical recruitment of patients under treatment in one of the participating mental health care centres, through pharmacies, via the Dutch knowledge centre bipolar disorders (Kenniscentrum Bipolaire Stoornissen), through the Psychiatric Case Registry Midden Nederland and population based recruitment through the media. When subjects expressed their interest in participation, an appointment was made at the University Medical Centre Utrecht (UMCU). The inclusion criteria, in specific, the bipolar type I diagnosis (patients only) and the Dutch origin of three grandparents, were verified and additional information about the study was given orally and by letter. The first appointment lasted two hours for controls and three hours for patients, and consisted of signing an informed consent, the completion of three self-report questionnaires (patients only), a psychiatric interview and a series of neuropsychological tests. All assessment tools are described in detail

Bipolar Genetics

below. Patients were given an incentive of \notin 30,- and controls of \notin 20,- next to traveling expenses. Afterwards, subjects were asked if they were interested in a follow up appointment for the MRI scan. Before making the appointment a safety checklist was conducted to ensure that none of the exclusion criteria for the MRI scanner were present. This second appointment lasted one and a half hours and consisted of signing the informed consent form, a short briefing on the scanning protocol, a second conduction of the safety checklist to reaffirm the absence of any potential dangers, followed by a series of MRI scans (Achieva 3T, Philips). The total time in the scanner was 43 minutes. For participating in the MRI study all subjects were given an additional incentive of \notin 20,- and were compensated for travelling expenses. Furthermore, during both appointments, all subjects were provided with a lunch voucher that was exchangeable in hospital restaurants.

Assessment

<u>Dutch version of the Questionnaire for Bipolar Illness (QBP-NL).</u> The Dutch version of the Questionnaire for Bipolar Illness (QBP-NL) is a questionnaire used to assess basic demographic and clinical data of patients with bipolar disorder (Leverich, et al., 2001).

<u>Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Disorders (SCID-I)</u>. The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV disorders (SCID-I) is a semi-structured interview for diagnosing the major DSM-IV Axis I disorders (First, Spitzer, Gibbon & Williams, 1997). In this study the research version of the SCID was used to assess the BPI diagnosis, and the presence of a current depressive or manic episode.

<u>Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI)</u>. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) is a short structured diagnostic interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10 psychiatric disorders (Sheehan et al., 1998). The validity and reliability of the diagnoses made with the MINI are considered good compared to more extensive interviews such as the SCID (Sheehan et al., 1998).

<u>Wechseler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III).</u> The Wechseler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III) is the most widely used standard test of intelligence (Blyler, Gold, Iannone & Buchanan, 2000). A short form version for clinical and research purposes was developed and includes four subtasks of the WAIS-III: Information, Arithmetic, Block Design, and Digit Symbol. Previous research indicates that these four subtasks provide an adequate estimate for the general level of cognitive competence (Blyler et al., 2000). Therefore, this short form version of the WAIS-III was used in this study to assess general intelligence.

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

<u>The Dutch Adult Reading Test (NLV).</u> The Dutch Adult Reading Test (NLV) is a task that consists of a series of 50 words that have irregular pronunciations and need to be read out loud by the patient (Schmand, Lindeboom & Harskamp, 1992). The NLV is used to estimate premorbid intelligence for patients with cerebral damage, because it relies on verbal intelligence which is relatively unaffected by cerebral damage.

Imaging and volumetric processing

Structural MRI scans of the whole brain were acquired on a Philips Achieva 3T medical scanner. A three dimensional (3D) anatomical T_1 -weighed image of the whole head was acquired (Three Dimensional - Fast Field Echo (3D-FFE); Coronal; 256 x 256 matrix, 160-180 0.8-mm contiguous slices of 1,2 mm., echo time [TE] = 4.6 ms., repetition time [TR] = 30 ms., flip angle = 30°, Field of View (FOV) = 256 mm./70%). Volumetric processing was performed, using in-house developed software to measure total brain, grey and white matter, cerebellar, lateral and third ventricle volumes. All brain images were coded to assure investigator blindness and prevent bias during segmentation.

The T₁-weighed images were automatically placed in Talairach orientation (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) without scaling, by registering them to a model brain, and were corrected for magnetic field inhomogeneities. After correction the T_1 -weighed brain images were used to create intercranial masks. These intercranial masks were, where necessary, manually edited and used as a model for all further segmentation steps. Grey and white matter intensities were directly estimated from the image using automatic segmentation software. This software included histogram analysis algorithms, anatomical knowledge based decision rules and series of mathematical morphological operators to connect all voxels of interest (Schnack et al., 2001a; Schnack, Hulshoff Pol, Baaré, Viergever & Kahn, 2001b). Furthermore, for separating grey and white matter, the amounts of pure and partial volume voxels were modelled in a non-uniform partial volume density, which was fitted into an intensity histogram (Schnack et al, 2001a). Total brain volume was calculated by adding the grey and white matter volumes. Masks for the lateral ventricles were created using automated computer-incorporated anatomical knowledge of the location of the lateral ventricles in the brain, for example the knowledge that the lateral ventricles are encapsulated by white matter (Schnack et al, 2001b). The limits of the third ventricle masks were based on the anterior and posterior commissures, and the upper boundary was set via a plane through the plexus choroideus ventriculi tertii perpendicular to the midsaggital slice. A plane through the fourth ventricle and the aqueduct set the cerebellum mask. Similar to the intercranial masks, the ventricular and cerebellar masks were manually checked and where necessary edited to improve accuracy of segmentation.

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

Statistical analyses

The data was analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM, version 20.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data was examined for outliers and extreme values and normality of the distribution. An independent samples t-test, Mann-Whitney U tests, and a Chi-square analysis were performed to compare group differences on estimated premorbid intelligence (IQ) scores, age, level of education, and sex ratio. To examine possible confounding effects of age, intercranial volume, sex, and lithium on total brain and grey matter volumes, correlation analyses were run. For the relation between age, intercranial volume and total brain and grey matter volumes Pearson correlation analyses were conducted. However, for cerebrum grey matter volume (BBGM) and cerebrum grey matter volume right (BBGMR) Spearman's Rho correlation analyses were run due to the violation of the assumption of normality. In addition, the relation between sex, lithium and total brain and grey matter volumes was examined with logistic regression analyses. All assumptions for logistic regression were met except for the multicollinearity assumption for sex and intercranial volume. To assess group differences on total brain and grey matter volumes analyses of covariance (ANCOVA) were conducted with age, intercranial volume, sex, and lithium as covariates. Of these ANCOVA's assumptions were checked for randomness and independent sampling, normal distribution, heterogeneity of variance, and heterogeneity of regression slopes. The assumption of normality was violated for the following volumes of the patient group: total brain volume (TB), TBR, total brain volume left (TBL), cerebrum grey matter (BBGM), and cerebrum grey matter volumes right (BBGMR). However, the analyses were run, since ANCOVA is considered to be a robust statistic (Harwell, 2003). It is therefore important to critically interpret these results. For testing the relation between grey matter volumes and estimated IQ Pearson correlation analyses were conducted. For TBR, BBGM, and BBGMR a Spearman's Rho correlation analysis was performed, again due to the violation of the assumption of normality. For similar reasons, the relation between the number of manic episodes and grey matter volumes and estimated current IQ was assessed via Spearman's Rho correlation analyses. Change in IQ was calculated by subtracting the current estimated IQ score from the estimated premorbid IQ score. Finally, group differences on grey matter volumes and change in IQ ware assessed via independent samples t-tests, with the exception of group differences on BBGM and BBGMR, which were compared using a Mann-Whitney *U* test for above mentioned reasons.



Results

Demographic and clinical characteristics

As stated above a total of 62 patients and 38 control participants were included for analyses. The patient and control group did not differ on premorbid intelligence scores, educational level or male/female ratio. However, patients were significantly older (mean age: 46, SD = 12.5) than control participants (mean age: 38, SD = 17,5) (U = 788.50, p = .006). In the patient group the mean age of onset for BPI disorder was 25 years (range 9 – 51), and the mean age for the first hospitalization was 33 years (range 14 – 61). A total of 51 patients (82.26%) was at least hospitalized once, with an average of two hospitalizations. Furthermore, patients reported a mean of four manic and six depressive episodes. Of the control group four people reported having experienced one or more depressive episodes.

Group differences on grey matter volumes and general intelligence

Before analysing whether patients had smaller grey matter volumes than control subjects, covariates that were considered possible confounders, thus are expected to influence grey matter volumes, were assessed and are presented in table 2.

	•	10	6	x •. 1 •	
	Age	IC	Sex	Lithium	
Age	-	-	-	-	
IC	038 ^d	-	-	-	
Sex	2.962 ^f	16.564***f	-	-	
Lithium	.508 ^f	1.014^{f}	.395°	-	
ТВ	397***d	.850***d	11.227** ^f	.350 ^f	
TBL	402**d	.840***d	11.267**f	.379 ^f	
TBR	387***d	.855***d	11.122**f	.320 ^f	
BBGM	430***e	.747***e	7.937**f	.146 ^f	
BBGML	512***d	.762***d	8.169**f	.136 ^f	
BBGMR	421***e	.759***e	7.647**f	.155 ^f	
CBGM	251*d	.600***d	11.288**f	.824 ^f	
CBGML	252*d	.560***d	10.199**f	1.445^{f}	
CBGMR	230*d	.592***d	10.725**f	.344 ^f	
BBGML BBGMR CBGM CBGML CBGMR	512*** ^d 421*** ^e 251* ^d 252* ^d 230* ^d	.762***d .759***e .600***d .560***d .592***d	8.169**f 7.647**f 11.288**f 10.199**f 10.725**f	.136 ^f .155 ^f .824 ^f 1.445 ^f .344 ^f	

Table 2. Relations between age, intercranial volume, sex and total brain and grey matter volumes of patients and control participants, and the relation between lithium and total brain and grey matter volumes for patients.

Note. IC: intercranial volume, TB: total brain volume, TBL: total brain volume left, TBR: total brain volume right, BBGM: cerebrum grey matter volume, BBGML: cerebrum grey matter volume left, BBGMR: cerebrum grey matter volume right, CBGM: cerebellum grey matter volume, CBGML: cerebellum grey matter volume left, CBGMR: cerebellum grey matter volume right. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001. c = Chi square test, d = Pearson correlation, e = Spearman's Rho correlation, f = Logistic regression analysis (Wald statistic).



All above-mentioned confounders were used as covariates in the following analyses on differences in total brain and grey matter volumes between the groups. Although lithium did not seem to have a significant relation with total brain and grey matter volumes in the patient group, it was still was still taken as a covariate on theoretic grounds (Kempton et al., 2008; Lyoo et al., 2010). When controlled for age, intercranial volume, sex, and lithium use, patients and control subjects showed significant differences in total brain (F(1, 68) = 8.120, p = .006), total brain left (F(1, 68) = 7.802, p = .007), and total brain right (F(1, 68) = 7.948, p = .006) volumes. No differences in grey matter volumes for the cerebrum of cerebellum were found. Details are presented in table 3.

Structure	Patient group (n=60)		Control group (<i>n</i> =16)		Difference ^g	Significance
	М	SD	М	SD		
ТВ	1193.73	98.66	1200.31	149.59	8.120	.006
TBL	595.26	48.94	599.68	75.33	7.802	.007
TBR	598.47	50.09	600.63	74.42	7.948	.006
BBGM	567.64	46.90	566.13	78.38	.427	.516
BBGML	283.50	23.41	283.39	38.81	.507	.479
BBGMR	284.14	23.67	282.74	39.68	.330	.568
CBGM	93.88	9.39	94.03	10.88	1.345	.250
CBGML	47.20	4.81	47.28	5.72	1.439	.234
CBGMR	46.67	5.05	46.76	5.32	1.019	.316

Table 3. Volumetric specifics of total brain and grey matter volumes (in cm³) of the patient and controlgroup and differences between the groups controlled for age, intercranial volume, sex, and lithium use.

Note. IC: intercranial volume, TB: total brain volume, TBL: total brain volume left, TBR: total brain volume right, BBGM: cerebrum grey matter volume, BBGML: cerebrum grey matter volume left, BBGMR: cerebrum grey matter volume right, CBGM: cerebellum grey matter volume, CBGML: cerebellum grey matter volume left, CBGMR: cerebellum grey matter volume right. ^g = ANCOVA.

Next to grey matter volumes the estimated general intelligence (IQ) scores of patients and control participants were analysed. Because the IQ scores were normed by age they automatically controlled for the age difference between the groups. Results indicated that the mean estimated general IQ score for control subjects (M = 107.87, SD = 19.72) was significantly higher than that of patients (M = 100.05, SD = 12.96) (t(58.2) = 2.15, p = .036). So a difference in estimated general IQ was found although the groups did not differ in estimated premorbid IQ scores. See figure 1 below.





Figure 1. Mean estimated premorbid IQ scores and estimated general IQ scores of patients and control participants. Standard deviation is shown in error bars.

Correlation analyses

A possible relation between grey matter volumes and estimated general IQ scores was assessed via correlation analyses. Correlations with IQ and cerebellar, cerebrum total, and cerebrum left grey matter volumes were clearly non-significant (p > .5). Cerebrum grey matter left showed a somewhat stronger, although still clearly non-significant, correlation with general IQ (r = .170, p = .148). When the relation between general IQ and grey matter volumes was examined for patients and controls separately, the same results were found in the patient group. So, cerebellar, cerebrum total, and cerebrum left grey matter volumes were, again, clearly non-significant (p > .5), and cerebrum grey matter left showed a stronger, but non-significant, correlation with general IQ (r = .209, p = .125).

This deviating correlation for cerebrum grey matter left was not found for control participants. For the control group there were no significant relations between IQ and grey matter volumes (p > .5).

Following group analyses, further analyses were performed on the patient group solely to evaluate the relation between the number of manic episodes, and grey matter volumes and change in IQ. These analyses showed that there is no significant correlation between the number of manic episodes and grey matter volumes (all p > .4). In addition, when patients were divided into a single-manic and a multiple-manic group no significant difference in mean grey matter volumes scores were found between the groups (all p > .4, except cerebellum grey matter left: t = 1.366, p = .177).



Finally the relation between the number of manic episodes and change in IQ was assessed. Results showed that there is no significant relation between the number of manic episodes and a change in IQ ($r_s = .24$, p = .088). However, when patients were divided into a single-manic and a multiple-manic group the average negative change in IQ was significantly larger for the multiple-manic group (M = 11.47, SD = 12.17) than for the single-manic group (M = 4.00, SD = 12.84) (t(53) = -2.07, p = .043). The change in IQ did not significantly correlate to the age of onset of the disorder, the number of hospitalizations, the age at first hospitalization or the number of depressive episodes. Furthermore, no significant difference in change in IQ was found for the use of lithium, antidepressants, or antipsychotics.



Figure 2. Mean change in IQ for single manic and multiple manic patients. Standard deviation is shown in error bars. A higher score reflects a decline in IQ.



Discussion

The aim of this study was to examine the effect of manic episodes on total brain and grey matter volumes and general intellectual functioning in patients with a bipolar type I disorder (BPI). Our volumetric data showed that patients had smaller total brain volumes than control participants. No difference in grey matter volumes between the groups were found. In addition, no relation between grey matter volumes and general intelligence (IQ) was found. However, patients showed lower general IQ scores than control participants, while no difference in premorbid IQ was found. In addition, patients who experienced multiple manic episodes showed a larger decrease in general IQ compared to patients who experienced only a single manic episode. There was no relation between the number of manic episodes and grey matter volumes, nor was there a difference in grey matter volumes between single-manic and multiple-manic patients.

Our findings on structural changes in total brain and grey matter volumes indicated that patients had smaller total brain volumes, but similar grey matter volumes compared to control subjects. Reduction in total brain volume is consistent with previous findings (Arnone et al., 2009; Strakowski, et al., 2002). However, there is some controversy on total brain volumes in patients with BPI, since preservation of total brain is more often reported (Emsell & McDonald, 2009; McDonald et al., 2004; Strakowski, Adler, et al., 2002). Arnone et al. (2009) suggest that a smaller total brain volume in bipolar patients is a small effect that can only be observed in large sample sizes. The strong homogeneity of the patient group in this study forms a possible explanation for finding this effect in a smaller sample size. Furthermore, more specific volumetric structures, that were not defined and therefore not examined in this study, could explain the difference in total brain volumes between the groups. No differences in grey matter volumes between patients and control participants were found. This corresponds to previous studies that reported no change in grey matter volumes (McDonald et al., 2004; Scherk, et al., 2008). However, a fair amount of studies and recent meta-analyses did report changes in grey matter volumes (Arnone et al., 2009; Drevets et al., 1997; Emsell & McDonald, 2009; Monkul et al., 2005; Strakowski, Adler, et al., 2002). In these studies most reported grey matter reductions are in the frontal and temporal cortical areas. Since our study did not specify cerebral regions, possible reductions in smaller prefrontal or temporal volumes could have been missed. Furthermore, in this study we only included patients with a BPI diagnosis. Since heterogeneity in the patient group is frequently reported as a methodological problem (Smith et al., 2008), our homogeneity can account for the inconsistency in results with previous research.

Next to structural differences, the estimated general IQ was assessed to evaluate the general intellectual functioning. We observed a significant difference in general IQ between patients

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

with BPI and control subjects, when groups were matched on estimated premorbid IQ. This concurs with previous findings of a lower IQ in patients with BPI compared to control subjects (Frantom et al., 2008; McIntosh et al., 2005; Toulopoulou et al., 2006). Since general IQ is a useful single descriptive measure for overall intellectual ability (Blyler et al., 2000), these results indicate that the disorder negatively influences the level of intellectual functioning. This has important implications for the functional status of patients since a lower level of intellectual functioning has been related to poorer psychosocial functioning (Wingo, Harvey & Baldessarini, 2009) and a lower quality of life (Brissos, Dias, Carita & Martínez-Arán, 2008). Additionally, more severe cognitive impairments have been observed in low-functioning patients, compared to high-functioning patients (Martínez-Arán et al., 2007).

In addition to the observed difference in IQ for patients and control subjects, the change in general IQ was larger for patients who experienced multiple manic episodes, compared to patients who experienced only one manic episode. This corresponds to previous findings of a relation between intellectual functioning and the duration (Donaldson, Goldstein, Landau, Raymont & Frangou, 2003) and severity of the illness (Bearden et al., 2001; Denicoff et al., 1999). Our findings differ from studies that related the number of depressive episodes, and not manic episodes, to a poorer functional outcome (Forcada et al., 2011) and a higher risk of cognitive abnormalities (Bruno et al., 2006). However, in our study, the change in IQ could not be explained by other clinical factors, such as the age of onset, age at first hospitalization, number of hospitalizations, or the number of depressive episodes. This suggests that manic episodes have a specific effect on the level of general intellectual functioning. In combination with the functional outcomes of poorer intellectual functioning found in bipolar patients, this implicates that a larger number of manic episodes can negatively influence the level of manic episodes and strengthening cognitive abilities to achieve a better functional outcome.

Finally, our study did not find an effect of manic episodes on total brain or grey matter volumes. Nor was there a relation between total brain and grey matter volumes and general IQ. However, an effect of manic episodes on cerebellar and temporal lobe grey matter volumes has been observed in previous research (Moorhead et al., 2007). The absence of more specific cerebral volumes in this study could help explain the absence of significant effects of manic episodes on brain volumes.

This study has some limitations. First, several methodological shortcomings can be identified in the sample groups. There was a significant age difference between the patient and control group. Next to that, the number of control participants for the volumetric data was small, and

BiPOLAR **G**ENETICS

noticeably smaller than the patient group. In the overall analyses the number of patients was also larger than the number of control participants, which could have influenced analyses. Also, the sample size for the patient group was quite small when they were divided into a singlemanic and multiple-manic group. Secondly, the volumetric data consisted of large brain areas, which could have caused more subtle differences between the groups to go unnoticed. Furthermore, our intelligence data was based on four subtasks of the WAIS-III. This offered an estimate of the general IQ, and although this has been found reliable in a schizophrenic population (Blyler et al., 2000), it has not been tested within a bipolar population. Next to these limitations our study had several strengths. First of all, a very homogenous patients sample was selected, since the diagnosis and absence of a current mood episode was evaluated. If there was any doubt on a current episode, patients were excluded from analyses. Next to that, volumetric data and general IQ were assessed in one study, which allowed for elaborate comparisons of total brain and grey matter volumes and the relation to general IQ. Finally, to our knowledge, this is the first study that has scrutinized the precise effects of manic episodes on general IQ.

Concluding, this study aimed to investigate the effects of manic episodes on total brain and grey matter volumes and general IQ in patients with BPI. Patients showed smaller total brain volumes than control participants, but similar grey matter volumes. There was no relation between total brain and grey matter volumes and general IQ. However, patients did show lower IQ scores than control subjects, and patients who experienced multiple manic episodes had a larger decrease in IQ than patients who only experienced a single manic episode. This indicates that manic episodes have a specific negative effect on general IQ. Since the level of general IQ has been related to the functional outcome of the disorder, a higher number of manic episodes could negatively influence the psychosocial level of functioning and the quality of life of patients.

Future researched should continue to investigate the effects of manic episodes compared to other clinical factors, especially depressive episodes. The effects of manic episodes on the brain should be assessed using specific regions of interest, such as the prefrontal and temporal areas. For interpreting the effect of manic episodes on general IQ more reliable results can be established by conducting a full-scale IQ test. Also, a full-scale IQ allows for the interpreting of a more detailed cognitive profile and the comparing of verbal and performance IQ. Finally, longitudinal research would be ideal to evaluate the precise effect of manic episodes on total brain and grey matter volumes, as well as on general IQ.



References

- American Psychiatric Association [APA] (2007). *Beknopte handleiding bij de Diagnostische Criteria van de DSM-IV-TR*. Wilco: Amersfoort.
- Arnone, D., Cavanagh, J., Gerber, D., Lawrie S.M., Ebmeier, K.P. & McIntosh, A.M. (2009). Magnetic resonance imaging studies in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 195(3), 194-201. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108059717
- Bearden, C.E., Hoffman, K.M. & Cannon, T.D. (2001). The neuropsychology and neuroanatomy of bipolar affective disorder: a critical review. *Bipolar Disorders, 3*, 106-150.
- Bentum, A. & Ree, E. (2008). Het perspectief van de patiënt en diens naasten. In R. Kupka, E. Knoppert van der Klein en W. Nolen (red.), *Handboek Bipolaire stoornissen* (pp. 481-501). Utrecht: De Tijdstroom.
- Blyler, C.R., Gold, J.M., Iannone, V.N. & Buchanan, R.W. (2000). Short form of the WAIS-III for use with patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 46(2), 209-215. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00017-7
- Bora, E., Yucel, M. & Pantelis, C. (2009). Cognitive endophenotypes of bipolar disorder: A meta-analysis of neuropsychological deficits in euthymic patients and their first-degree relatives. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 113*(1), 1-20. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.009
- Bremner, J.D., Vythilingam, M., Vermetten, E., Nazeer, A., Adil, J., Khan, S., ... Charney, D.S. (2002). Reduced
 Volume of Orbitofrontal Cortex in Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *51*(4), 273-279. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01336-1
- Brissos, S., Dias, V.V., Carita, A.I. & Martínez-Arán, A. (2008). Quality of life in bipolar type I disorder and schizophrenia in remission: Clinical and neurocognitive correlates. *Journal of Psychiatry Research*, *160*, 55-62. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2007.04.010
- Bruno, S.D., Papadopoulou, K., Cercignani, M., Cipolotti, L. & Ron, M.A. (2006). Structural brain correlates of IQ changes in bipolar disorder. *Psychological Medicine*, *36*(5), 609-618. doi: 10.1017/S0033291706007112
- Cavanagh, J.T.O., Van Beck, M., Muir, W. & Blackwoord, D.H.R. (2002). Case-Control study of neurocognitive function in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder: an association with mania. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 180*, 320-326. doi: 10.1192/bjp.180.4.320
- Denicoff, K.D., Ali, S.O., Mirsky, A.F., Smith-Jackson, E.E., Leverich, G.S., Duncan, C.C., ... Post, R.M. (1999).
 Relationship between prior course of illness and neuropsychological functioning in patients with bipolar disorder. Journal of Affective Disorders, 56(1), 67–73. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(99)00028-2
- Donaldson, S., Goldstein, L.H., Landau, S., Raymont, V. & Frangou, S. (2003). The Maudsley Bipolar Disorder Project: The Effect of Medication, Family History, and Duration of Illness on IQ and Memory in Bipolar I Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 64(1), 86-93.
- Drevets, W.C., Price, J.L., Simpson Jr, J.R., Todd, R.D., Reich, T., Vannier, M. & Raichle, M.E. (1997). Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. *Nature*, *386*(6627), 824-827. doi: 10.1038/386824a0

- Ellison-Wright, I. & Bullmore, E. (2010). Anatomy of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: A meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia Research*, *117*(1), 1-12. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.022
- Emsell, L. & McDonald, C. (2009). The structural neuroimaging of bipolar disorder. *International Review of Psychiatry*, *21*(4), 297-313. doi: 10.1080/09540260902962081
- First, M.B., Spitzer, R.L., Gibbon, M. & Williams, J.B.W. (1997). User's guide for the Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders SCID-I: clinician version. Washington: American Psychiatric Press, Inc.
- Forcada, I., Papachristou, E., Mur, M., Christodoulou, T., Jogia, J., Reichenberg, A., ... Frangou, S. (2011). The impact of general intellectual ability and white matter volume on the functional outcome of patients with Bipolar Disorder and their relatives. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 130, 413-420. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.10.048
- Frantom, L.V., Allen, D.N. & Cross, C.L. (2008). Neurocognitive endophenotypes for bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*,10(, 387–399. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00529.x
- Harwell, M. (2003). Summarizing Monte Carlo Results in Methodological Research: The Single-Factor,
 Fixed-Effects ANCOVA Case. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 28(1), 45-70. doi: 10.3102/10769986028001045
- Hauser, P., Matochik, J., Altshuler, L. L., Denicoff, K. D., Conrad, A., Li, X. & Post, R. M. (2000). MRI-based measurements of temporal lobe and ventricular structures in patients with bipolar I and bipolar II disorders. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 60, 25-32. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(99)00154-8
- Hellvin, T., Sundet, K., Simonsen, C., Aminoff, S.R., Lagerberg, T.V., Andreassen, O.A. & Melle, I. (2012).
 Neurocognitive functioning in patients recently diagnosed with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 14(3), 227-238. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01004.x
- Kempton, M.J., Geddes, J.R., Ettinger, U., Williams, S.C.R &, Grasby, P.M. (2008). Meta-analysis, Database, and Meta-Regression of 98 Structural Imaging Studies in Bipolar Disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(9), 1017-1032. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.65.9.1017
- Konarski, J.Z., McIntyre, R.S., Kennedy, S.H., Rafi-Tari, S., Soczynska, J.K. & Ketter, T.A. (2008). Volumetric neuroimaging investigations in mood disorders: bipolar disorder versus major depressive disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 10(1), 1-37. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2008.00435.x
- Kupka, R. & Nolen, W. (2008). Classificatie en diagnostiek. In R. Kupka, E. Knoppert van der Klein en W.Nolen (red.), *Handboek Bipolaire stoornissen* (pp. 15-40). Utrecht: De Tijdstroom.
- Leverich, G.S., Nolen, W.A., Ruch, A.J., McElroy, S.L., Keck Jr., P.E., Denicoff, K.D., ... Post, R.M. (2001). The Stanley Foundation Bipolar Treatment Outcome Network. I Longitudinal methodology. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *67*(1-3), 33-44. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00430-X
- López-Larson, M.P., DelBello, M.P., Zimmerman, M.E., Schwiers, M.L. & Strakowski, S.M. (2002). Regional Prefrontal Gray and White Matter Abnormalities in Bipolar Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *52*(2), 93-100. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01350-1
- Lyoo, I.K., Dager, S.R., Kim, J.E., Yoon, S.J., Friedman, S.D., Dunner, D.L. & Renshaw, P.F. (2010). Lithium-Induced Gray Matter Volume Increase as a Neural Correlate of Treatment Response in Bipolar Disorder: A Longitudinal Brain Imaging Study. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(8), 1743-1750. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.41

- Martínez-Arán, A., Vieta, E., Reinares, M., Colom, F., Torrent, C., Sánchez-Moreno, J., ... Salamero, M. (2004).
 Cognitive Function Across Manic or Hypomanic, Depressed, and Euthymic States in Bipolar
 Disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(2), 262-270. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.262
- Martínez-Arán, A., Vieta, E., Torrent, C., Sanchez-Moreno, J., Goikolea, J.M., Salamero, M., ... Ayuso-Mateos, J.L. (2007). Functional outcome in bipolar disorder: the role of clinical and cognitive factors.
 Bipolar Disorders, 9(1-2), 103-113. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00327.x
- McDonald, C., Zanelli, J., Rabe-Hesketh, S., Ellison-Wright, I., Sham, P., Kalidindi, S., ... Kennedy, N. (2004).
 Meta-Analysis of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Brain Morphometry Studies in Bipolar Disorder.
 Biological Psychiatry, 56(6), 411-417. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.06.021
- McIntosh, A.M., Harrison, L.K., Forrester, K., Lawrie, S.M. & Johnstone, E.C. (2005). Neuropsychological impairments in people with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder and their unaffected relatives. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *186*, 378-385. doi: 10.1192/bjp.186.5.378
- Merikangas, K.R., Jin, R., He, J-P., Kessler, R.C., Lee, S., Sampson, N.A., ... Zarkov, Z. (2011). Prevalence and Correlates of Bipolar Spectrum Disorder in the World Mental Health Survey Initiative. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(3), 241-251. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.12
- Monkul, E.S., Gin, S.M. & Soares, J.C. (2005). Anatomical MRI abnormalities in bipolar disorder: do they exist and do they progress? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *39*(4), 222-226. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1614.2005.01571.x
- Moorhead, T.W.J., McKirdy, J., Sussmann, J.E.D., Hall, J., Lawrie, S.M., Johnstone, E.C. & McIntosh, A.M. (2007). Progressive Gray Matter Loss in Patients with Bipolar Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *62*(8), 894-900. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.03.005
- Regeer E.J., Ten Have M., Rosso M.L., Hakkaart-van Roijen, L. Vollebergh, W. & Nolen, W.A. (2004).
 Prevalence of bipolar disorder in the general population: a Reappraisal Study of the Netherlands
 Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 110*, 374-382. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00363.x
- Robinson, L.J., Thompson, J.M., Gallagher, P., Goswami, U., Young, A.H., Ferrier, I.N. & Moore, P.B. (2006). A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 93(1), 105-115. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.02.016
- Sanchez-Moreno, J., Martínez-Arán, A., Tabarés-Seisdedos, R., Torrent, C., Vieta, E. & Ayuso-Mateos, J.L. (2009). Functioning and Disability in Bipolar Disorder: An Extensive Review. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 78(5), 285-297. doi: 10.1159/000228249
- Savitz, J., Solms, M. & Ramesar, R. (2005). Neuropsychological dysfunction in bipolar affective disorder: a critical opinion. *Bipolar Disorders*, 7(3), 216-235. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00203.x
- Scherk, H., Kemmer, C., Usher, J., Reith, W., Falkai, P. & Gruber, O. (2008). No change to grey and white matter volumes in bipolar I patients. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 258(6), 345-349. doi: 10.1007/s00406-007-0801-8
- Schmand, B., Lindeboom, J. & Van Harskamp, F. (1992). *Nederlandse Leestest voor Volwassenen*. Lisse: Swets & Zeitlinger.

- Schnack, H.G., Hulshoff Pol, H.E., Baare´, W.F.C., Staal, W.G., Viergever, M.A. & Kahn, R.S. (2001a) Automated Separation of Gray and White Matter from MR Images of the Human Brain. *Neuroimage*, 13, 320-327. doi:10.1006/nimg.2000.0669
- Schnack, H.G., Hulshoff Pol, H.E., Baare', W.F.C., Viergever, M.A. & Kahn, R.S. (2001b) Automatic Segmentation of the Ventricular System from MR Images of the Human Brain. *Neuroimage*, 14, 95-104. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0800
- Sheehan, D.V., Lecrubier, Y., Sheehan, K.H., Amorim, P., Janavs, J., Weiller, E., ... Dunbar, G.C. (1998). The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): The Development and Validation of a Structured Diagnostic Psychiatric Interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 59(20), 22-33.
- Sheline, Y.I. (2003). Neuroimaging Studies of Mood Disorder Effects on the Brain. *Biological Psychiatry*, *3*(1), 338-352. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00347-0
- Smith, Gorp, Sobczak & Honig (2003). Bipolaire stoornis. In P. Eling, E. De Haan, R. Hijman en B. Schmand (red.). *Cognitieve Neuropsychiatrie*. Amsterdam: Boom.
- Stanfield, A.C., Moorhead, T.W.J., Job, D.E., McKirdy, J., Sussmann, J.E.D., Hall, J., ... McIntosh, A.M. (2009). Structural abnormalities of ventrolateral and orbitofrontal cortex in patients with familial bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 11(2), 135-144. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00666.x
- Strakowski, S.M., Adler, C.M., & DelBello, M.P. (2002). Volumetric MRI studies of mood disorders: do they distinguish unipolar and bipolar disorder? *Bipolar Disorders, 4*(2), 80-88. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-5618.2002.01160.x
- Strakowski, S.M., DelBello, M.P., Zimmerman, M.E., Getz, G.E., Mills, N.P., Ret, J., ... Adler, C.M. (2002).
 Ventricular and Periventricular Structural Volumes in First- Versus Multiple-Episode Bipolar
 Disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(11), 1841-1847. doi:

10.1176/appi.ajp.159.11.1841

- Talairach, J. & Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-planar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain. Stuttgard: Thieme.
- Ten Have, M., Vollebergh, W., Bijl, R. & Nolen, W.A. (2002). Bipolar disorder in the general population in The Netherlands (prevalence, consequences and care utilisation): results from The Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). *Journal of Affective Disorders, 68*(2-3), 203-213. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00310-4
- Torres, I.J., Boudreau, V.G. & Yatham, L.N. (2007). Neuropsychological functioning in euthymic bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *116*(434), 17-26. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01055.x
- Toulopoulou, T., Quraishi, S., McDonald, C. & Murray, R.M. (2006). The Maudsley Family Study: Premorbid and Current General Intellectual Function Levels in Familial Bipolar I Disorder and Schizophrenia. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 28*(2), 243-259. doi: 10.1080/13803390500360513
- Wingo, A.P., Harvey, P.D. & Baldessarini, R.J. (2009). Neurocognitive impairment in bipolar disorder patients: functional implications. *Bipolar Disorders*, *11*, 113-125.
- Wingo, A.P., Wingo, T.S., Harvey, P.D. & Baldessarini, R.J. (2009). Effects of Lithium on Cognitive Performance: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *70*(11), 1588-1597.

Zubieta, J.-K., Huguelet, P., O'Neil, R.L. & Giordani, B.J. (2001) Cognitive function in euthymic Bipolar I Disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, *201*(1), 9-20. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(01)00242-6